
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
(ALCOHOL AND ENTERTAINMENTS) 

at the Council Offices, Farnborough on 
Thursday, 21st March, 2024 at 1.00 pm 

 
 
 
To: 

 
Cllr P.J. Cullum Cllr S. Trussler  Cllr Jacqui Vosper 

 
 
 
Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to the Committee Administrator: 
Chris Todd, Democracy, Tel. (01252) 398825 or Email chris.todd@rushmoor.gov.uk 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1. DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW OF A PREMISES 
LICENCE IN RESPECT OF DE LOUNGE, NOS. 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD, 
ALDERSHOT – (Pages 1 - 64) 
 
To consider the Executive Head of Operational Services’ Report No. OS2407 (copy 
attached) setting out details of an application for the review of a premises licence. 
 
 

----------- 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE   
    OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

(ALCOHOL & ENTERTAINMENTS) 
21 MARCH 2023 

 LICENSING REPORT NO. OS2407 

DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION FOR  
THE REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE 

DE LOUNGE, TOWNSTEAD HOUSE, 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD, 
ALDERSHOT, GU11 1JE 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report concerns an application for the review of a premises licence 
made under section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 (the ’Act’). The receipt 
of such an application invokes a statutory requirement to hold a hearing 
with Members to consider it. 

1.2. The report provides details of, and background to the application, and 
should be read in conjunction with the council’s licensing policy and 
Secretary of State’s guidance. This, together with information obtained 
at the hearing should be used to determine the application. 

2.0 BACKGROUND 

2.1. On the 1st February 2024, Hampshire Constabulary submitted an 
application for the review of the premises licence held in respect of De 
Lounge, Townstead House, 111 - 113 Victoria Road, Aldershot, GU11 
1JE. A copy of the review application together with its enclosures and 
some additional enclosures submitted during the application process is 
given at appendix A. This includes some CCTV footage which will be 
shown during the hearing. The licence holder will be given the 
opportunity to view the footage ahead of the hearing. 

2.2. A map of the area showing the general location of the premises is given 
at appendix B. 

2.3. Existing premises licence 

2.4. The application requests the review of the premises licence number 
23/00553/LAPRE, held in respect of the premises, initially granted in 
June 2007, and transferred to De Lounge Ltd. On 5th June 2018. A copy 
of the current premises licence is given at appendix C. 

2.5. The licence is subject to a number of mandatory and transposed 
conditions. It authorises the retail sale of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises, late night refreshment and the provision of regulated 
entertainment by way of live and recorded music, the exhibition of films, 
the performance of dance and anything similar. The hours for each of 
these activities are detailed on the licence. 

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM No. 1



 

 
3.0 ADMINISTRATION OF REVIEW APPLICATION 
 
3.1. Advertising the review application 
 
3.2. In submitting an application for review, it is the duty of the applicant to 

ensure that notice of the application is given to all responsible authorities 
and the licence holder to which it relates. It is also the duty of the 
licensing authority to advertise receipt of the application by way of 
enabling representations to be made by other parties. 

 
3.3. I can confirm that the applicant and each responsible authority have 

received a copy of the review application and the licensing authority has 
advertised receipt of the application both at the premises, online and at 
the Council Offices in accordance with the requirements of the Act. 

 
4.0 GROUNDS FOR REVIEW 
 
4.1. The grounds for review of the premises licence are set out in Part 2 of 

the review application (see appendix A). 
 
4.2. Relevance of grounds for review 
 
4.3. By virtue of section 51(4) of the Act, the licensing authority may, at any 

time, reject any ground for review if it is satisfied that the ground is not 
relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives.  

 
4.4. The grounds for review are considered to be relevant in this case, as the 

application has been made by a responsible authority and concerns the 
licensing objectives the prevention of crime & disorder, and the 
protection of children from harm. 

 
5.0 REPRESENTATION(S) 
 
5.1 One representation has been received in respect of the application, from 

another responsible authority namely the licensing authority. A copy of 
the representation is given as appendix D. 

 

5.2 In response to the review application, the premises licence holder has 
submitted some information, which is given as appendix E. 

 

6.0 DATA PROTECTION ISSUES 
 
6.1  In accordance with data protection requirements, any personal details, 

addresses, contact details and/or signatures submitted on any 
application, representation or other relevant document etc. have been 
redacted.  

  

Page 2



 

7.0 DETERMINATION 
 
7.1. The Sub-Committee is asked to determine the application for review. 

 
 

8.0 RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1. Licensing objectives 
 
8.2. In considering the application the licensing authority must have regard 

to the promotion of the licensing objectives. These are: 
 
(a) the prevention of crime and disorder; 
(b) ensuring public safety; 
(c) the prevention of public nuisance; and 
(d) the protection of children from harm. 

 
8.3. Licensing policy & Secretary of States guidance 
 
8.4. The licensing authority must also have regard to its statement of 

licensing policy and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
Details of the parts of the policy and guidance that may be relevant to 
this application are given in Appendix F. 
 

8.5. Human rights 
 

8.6. Members are reminded that in determining a review application the 
licence holder is entitled to a fair hearing, on merit and, any action(s), 
terms or conditions imposed must be both proportionate and 
appropriate. 
 

8.7. A premises licence is deemed to be a possession under Article 1(1) of 
the first protocol. 

 
8.8. Appeals 

 
8.9. The applicant for the review, the holder of the premises licence and/or 

any other party who made representations have a statutory right of 
appeal to the Magistrates’ court within 21 days of being notified of the 
decision / outcome. The decision of the Sub-Committee has no effect 
until the appeal period has passed or until the appeal is disposed of. 

 
9.0 OPTIONS 
 
9.1. In determining this application the Sub-Committee must, having regard 

to the review application and any relevant representations, take any one 
or any combination of the following steps as it considers appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives, namely: 

 
(a) to take no action; 
(b) to issue an informal warning and/or recommend improvement(s); 

Page 3



 

(c) to modify the existing conditions of the licence**; 
(d) to remove from the scope of the licence any licensable activity; 
(e) to remove the designated premises supervisor (DPS); 
(f) to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 

and/or 
(g) to revoke the licence. 

 
** for this purpose, the conditions of the licence are modified if any of 

them is altered, omitted or any new condition is added. 
 

9.2. The Sub-Committee is reminded that there are mandatory conditions 
that must be included in a premises licence where applicable.  
 

9.3. Where the Sub-Committee considers the removal of the DPS, members 
are reminded that the holder of a premises licence may make an 
application to vary the premises licence to specify a new individual as 
DPS at any time. The premises licence holder can specify that this 
application take immediate effect until it is determined in accordance with 
the Act.  
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

10.1. The Sub-Committee is asked to determine the application having regard 
to - 

 

(a) the contents of this report; 
 

(b) any additional information obtained from the hearing; 
 

(c)   the Council's licensing policy; 
 

(d) guidance issued by the Secretary of State; and 
 

(e) the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
SHELLEY BOWMAN 
Licensing Manager 
Operational Services 
licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk 

 
 
Background Papers: Application ref: 24/00091/LAPRER 
 Premises Licence ref: 23/00553/LAPRE 
 
Public Documents: 
 
1) HMSO (2003), The Licensing Act 2003 
 
2) Home Office (December 2023), Guidance issued under Section 182 of 

the Licensing Act 2003 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

Contact:  
 
Shelley Bowman, Licensing Manager (01252 398162) 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A - Application for review (pages 5 - 26) 
Appendix B - Map of the area (page 27) 
Appendix C  - Premises Licence (pages 29 - 43) 
Appendix D - Representation from Licensing Authority (pages 29 - 42) 
Appendix E - Information from Licence Holder (pages 59 – 62) 
Appendix F - Relevant Considerations (page 63) 
  

Page 5



 

APPENDIX A 
APPLICATION FOR REVIEW 

DE LOUNGE, TOWNSTEAD HOUSE, 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD,  
ALDERSHOT, GU11 1JE 

 
 

 
 

Page 6



 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 9



 

 
 

Page 10



 

 

 

Page 11



Page 12



 

FURTHER DISCLOSURE FOR POLICE LED APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW 

OF DE LOUNGE , ALDERSHOT 

 

PD/DL/03 - POLICE LICENSING REPORT 03/02/24 – PC SCOTT.  

PD/DL/04 – POLICE LICENSING REPORT 11/02/24 – LO POLLARD 

PD/DL/05 – E-MAIL CHAIN BETWEEN DE LOUNGE AND PC DENNETT 

SWAB RESULTS:- (verified and tested on Rapiscan) 

27/01/24 – GENTS TOILET – COCAINE 6.79 

11/02/24 – GENTS TOILET – COCAINE 3.51 

For context: 

 

Interpretation on readings: 

0.1 > 2 =  3rd person contact / old surface contact potentially cleaned over 

2.1 > 4 = 2nd person contact /  or recent contact on surface  

4.1 > 6 = 1st person usage / recent use on surface  

6 + = very recent usage either on person or surface, probably still in possession  

BODY WORN VIDEO SUBMISSION:- 

PD/BWV/01 – WALKAROUND DE LOUNGE 28/01/24 00:01:18 

PD/BWV/02 – FOOTAGE OF PERSONS ON ROOF 28/01/24 00:06:45 

PD/BWV/03 – FOOTAGE OF INTOXICATED MALE LEAVING VENUE AFTER 

UNIFORMED POLICE ARRIVE 28/01/24 00:42:44 

  

Page 13



 

SCREEN SHOT OF REPORT BY PC SCOTT (HAMPSHIRE POLICE LICENSING) 

COMPLETED 04/02/24 FOR VISIT ON THE 03/02/24 

 
 

 
  

P
age 14



 

 

 

 
  

P
age 15



 

From: Dennett, Philip (3715) <philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk>  

Sent: Monday, February 5, 2024 7:08 PM 

To: Tularam Gurung  

Cc: Rushmoor Council Licensing <Licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk> 

Subject: RE: DE LOUNGE - POLICE REVIEW APPLICATION 

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Rushmoor Borough Council. Do not 

click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content 

is safe. 

 

Hello Tularam 

 

Many thanks for your reply. 

 

It is not up to me to find another DPS and it is certainly not an appropriate comment 

to make about providing you financial assistance.  

 

I have forwarded your comments (which I believe to be inappropriate) to the local 

authority. 

 

Many thanks 

 

Phil 

 

 

PC 3715 PHIL DENNETT 

Force Licensing & Alcohol Harm Reduction Team 

Basingstoke Police Station 

External : 101 | Internal : 4622533 

Email – Philip.dennett@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 

Licensing Home Page 

 

 

 

From: Tularam Gurung   

Sent: 05 February 2024 18:44 

To: Dennett, Philip (3715) <philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk> 

Subject: Re: DE LOUNGE - POLICE REVIEW APPLICATION 

 
Caution: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments 

unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe - If unsure 

email ICTSecurityTeam@thamesvalley.police.uk to report this message. 
Thanks, I am very sorry if I have done very bad. I am sorry if I have put customers in 

dangerous situations. I am sorry if I have ignored vulnerable customers badly. You 

can download and check all cameras if you want.   

 

Please find a very good DPS who can help me in this business at Aldershot. Currently 

I am the only one who has got personal license.  

 

I am very happy to close trading further if you provide any financial assistance to get 

my money back.  

Page 16



 

 

Sorry to say other things which are irrelevant but I must say it. After end of October 

2023, when all partners left the business, I focused on fire safety , training to staff, 

electrical equipment repair, then focused to all suppliers to get good materials, other 

day to day operations and cleaning plus maintenance.  

 

It was my big mistake not hiring Security on the night.  

 

Regards  

 

Tularam Gurung  

 

 

Sent from my iPhone 

 

On 5 Feb 2024, at 16:51, Dennett, Philip (3715) 

<philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk> wrote: 

  

Hello Tularam 
  

Thank you for your e-mails in regard to my application to review the licence in regard 

to your venue – De Lounge in Victoria Road, Aldershot. I wish to respond to the 

following point raised by yourself:- 

  

1. On the day, only 52 people booked the venue. Few of them were gone home 

due to their personal reasons. A female group entered without knowledge but I 

believe they were about 10 and close relatives of band members. 

  

Response:- 

My estimation is exactly that, an estimation. However the issue remains there was no 

one on the door – as there should be – scanning those who have entered and I would 

suggest there is no live record of those who were on the venue that night. If you have 

records of those who were on site on the night in question please could you forward to 

me. An invite list would not suffice, I would require those present on the night. 

However it really doesn’t matter how many were on site as I am not suggesting issues 

in regards to capacity, just issues in regards to lack of compliance of conditions. 

  

The application made by myself is for a licensing sub – committee to make a decision 

in regards to the venue going forward. I have asked for the sub – committee to 

consider reducing the hours and removing you as DPS. I have not asked that the 

premise licence is revoked. The reason for those requests can be explained as follows. 

I believe that the venue does not consider the vulnerability of customers to a level 

where safeguards are put in place – SIA / vulnerability policy / Staff Training.  

  

Therefore if the hours were reduced then the risk would be lowered. I have not asked 

for anything earlier than 10pm. I believe that removing you as DPS and putting 

someone in your place would be beneficial to the licensing objectives. There have 

been substantial breaches of conditions and the reasons for that are unclear. My 

Page 17



 

suggestion to the sub – committee is to remove you and this would mean that 

someone else would come in with a fresh start and fresh eyes and maybe the mistakes 

or breaches that have been made would not happen again. It is important to stress that 

removing you as DPS is just that and not removing you from any business or 

company. 

  

I hope the above clarifies issues raised by yourself. I have been nothing but supportive 

in regards to the venue and yourself and do not wish for the business to cease trading 

but I do believe the above changes are required to increase the safety of those who are 

vulnerable and for the conditions to be met. I would agree to the removal of 

conditions such as the requirement for SIA / SCANNER if the hours are reduced and 

the DPS removed. 

  

Kind Regards 

  

Phil 

  

  

PC 3715 PHIL DENNETT 

Force Licensing & Alcohol Harm Reduction Team 

Basingstoke Police Station 

External : 101 | Internal : 4622533 

Email – Philip.dennett@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 

Licensing Home Page 

  

  

  

From: Rushmoor Council Licensing <Licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk>  

Sent: 02 February 2024 15:47 

To: Tularam Gurung ; Rushmoor Council Licensing 

<Licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk> 

Cc: Dennett, Philip (3715) <philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk>; Aimee Vosser 

<aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk>;  

Subject: RE: DE LOUNGE - POLICE REVIEW APPLICATION 

  

Hi Tularam, 

  

As the Licensing Authority we have 2 roles in respect of the Licensing Act which 

must be kept independent in respect of the application. I am processing the application 

and can answer any questions you have about the review process. However, if you are 

seeking to discuss the content of the application, and discuss a potential way to 

resolve them, this would require you to speak with PC Dennett, and Aimee as the 

responsible authority officer if appropriate. We cannot all meet together to discuss the 

appropriate way forward.  

  

It seems that you are seeking to discuss the latter, so I will leave it to PC Dennett as 

the applicant for the review to contact you to discuss and arrange a suitable time 

should he be able to meet with you. I am not sure whether he is working this weekend, 

so it may be that you do not receive further contact until next week. However, if you 

have any questions about the process itself, please feel free to contact me, and I will 

be happy to discuss these with you either in person, over the phone or by email. 

Page 18



Page 19



 

From: Rushmoor Council Licensing <Licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk> 

Sent: Friday, February 2, 2024 1:40:28 PM 

To: Tularam Gurung  

Cc: Dennett, Philip (3715) <philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk> 

Subject: RE: DE LOUNGE - POLICE REVIEW APPLICATION  

  
Dear Tularam, 
  
I cannot respond to all of the questions that you have raised below, as a number of them 
relate to PC Dennett’s account of the night and the application that he has made. However, 
you appear to be asking some questions around the review process and what that means for 
what you are able to do now. As the officer processing the application I would like to clarify 
that for you. 
  
A notice will be displayed both outside your premises, at the council offices and on the 
council’s website, which details that an application for review of the licence has been made 
by Hampshire Constabulary, and invites anyone to make representations should they wish to 
do so. These can be in support of the business or the application but must be relevant to the 
licensing objectives. The application is open to representations until 29th January 2024. 
  
During this time the responsible authorities, who have also received a full copy of the 
application can also make representations. If you wish to submit any information, 
documentation or evidence you can also do it during this period. This can be done by email 
to licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk or by post or hand delivery to the council offices. 
  
After this date a hearing of the licensing sub-committee will be held, which you, PC Dennett 
and anyone who makes representations will be invited to attend, and you will have the 
opportunity to present to the committee. The panel of members will determine the 
outcome of the application. You will receive a report detailing all of the representations that 
are made, and any evidence submitted ahead of the hearing for your consideration. You are 
entitled to be represented at the hearing, and you are may wish to consider whether you 
want to obtain legal advice. 
  
During the representation period, you can continue to operate in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of your premises licence, with yourself as the DPS as the outcome of the 
application has not been determined. There are a range of options available to the 
committee ranging from doing nothing to revoking the premises licence. PC Dennett has 
stated in his application that he will be requesting the committee to remove you as the DPS 
and to reduce the hours for licensable activities, however the decision as to whether this or 
other action is taken is made by the committee at the hearing.  
  
I trust that this answers your immediate questions regarding the operation of the business 
and clarifies the review process. However if you have any queries regarding the process, 
please do not hesitate to contact me. 
  
Kind Regards 
  
Shelley Bowman 
Licensing Manager 
Place Protection – Operations 
Rushmoor Borough Council 
01252 398162 

Page 20



Page 21



 

Please help me with your advice please. Being in the army for 16 years, I never had this kind 
of experience. I also happy to hear your advice  
  
  
Tularam Gurung  
De lounge  
Sent from my iPhone 
  

On 1 Feb 2024, at 11:56, Dennett, Philip (3715) <philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk> 
wrote: 

  
Dear All 
  
Please see the attached Police Led Application to Review the licence of De Lounge in 
Aldershot. 
  
The following documents are enclosed 
  

1. Hampshire Police Application Form 
2. De Lounge Premise Licence 
3. Photo of bolted fire exit – PD / DL / 01 (taken at 00:37hrs on the 28/1/24) 
4. Photo of refusal register with last refusal on the 02/12/24. – PD / DL / 02 (taken on 

00:24hrs on the 28/01/24) 
  
Body Worn Video footage is available which incorporates the walk around by officers. 
  
This will be disclosed once the footage is redacted to ensure the file is not too large and 
therefore unable to work. 
  
Kind Regards 
  
Phil 
PC 3715 PHIL DENNETT 
Force Licensing & Alcohol Harm Reduction Team 
Basingstoke Police Station 
External : 101 | Internal : 4622533 
Email – Philip.dennett@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 

Licensing Home Page 
  
 
 
 
***************************************************************************
******  
This email contains information which is confidential and may also be privileged. It is for the 
exclusive use of the addressee(s) and any views or opinions expressed within are those of 
the originator and not necessarily those of the Force. If you are not the intended recipient(s) 
please note that any form of distribution, copying or use of this email or the information 
contained is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have received this 
communication in error please forward a copy to 

Page 22



 

informationsecurity@thamesvalley.police.uk and to the sender. Please then delete the email 
and destroy any copies of it. DO NOT use this email address for other enquiries as it will not 
be responded to, nor any action taken upon it. If you have a non-urgent enquiry, please call 
the Police non-emergency number 101. If it is an emergency, please call 999. Thank you.  
***************************************************************************
******  
<G90 DE LOUNGE.doc> 
<DE LOUNGE LICENCE.doc> 
<BOLTED FIRE EXIT.jpg> 
<REFUSAL REGISTER.jpg> 

This e-mail, and any attachments, may contain confidential information and is 

intended solely for the individual to whom it is addressed. It may contain sensitive or 

protectively marked material and should be handled accordingly. If this e-mail has 

been misdirected, please notify the author immediately. If you are not the intended 

recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or rely on any of the 

information contained in it or attached, and all copies must be deleted immediately. 

Whilst we take reasonable steps to try to identify any software viruses, any 

attachments to this Email may nevertheless contain viruses which our anti-virus 

software has failed to identify. You should therefore carry out your own anti-virus 

checks before opening any documents. Rushmoor Borough Council will not accept 

any liability for damage caused by computer viruses emanating from any attachment 

or other document supplied with this e-mail. E-mails may have to be disclosed or 

monitored in accordance with relevant legislation.  

This e-mail, and any attachments, may contain confidential information and is 

intended solely for the individual to whom it is addressed. It may contain sensitive or 

protectively marked material and should be handled accordingly. If this e-mail has 

been misdirected, please notify the author immediately. If you are not the intended 

recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or rely on any of the 

information contained in it or attached, and all copies must be deleted immediately. 

Whilst we take reasonable steps to try to identify any software viruses, any 

attachments to this Email may nevertheless contain viruses which our anti-virus 

software has failed to identify. You should therefore carry out your own anti-virus 

checks before opening any documents. Rushmoor Borough Council will not accept 

any liability for damage caused by computer viruses emanating from any attachment 

or other document supplied with this e-mail. E-mails may have to be disclosed or 

monitored in accordance with relevant legislation.  

 

 

 

*********************************************************************

************  

This email contains information which is confidential and may also be privileged. It is 

for the exclusive use of the addressee(s) and any views or opinions expressed within 

are those of the originator and not necessarily those of the Force. If you are not the 

intended recipient(s) please note that any form of distribution, copying or use of this 

email or the information contained is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you 

have received this communication in error please forward a copy to 

informationsecurity@thamesvalley.police.uk and to the sender. Please then delete the 

email and destroy any copies of it. DO NOT use this email address for other enquiries 

as it will not be responded to, nor any action taken upon it. If you have a non-urgent 

enquiry, please call the Police non-emergency number 101. If it is an emergency, 

Page 23



 

please call 999. Thank you.  

*********************************************************************

************  

 

 

 

*********************************************************************

************  

This email contains information which is confidential and may also be privileged. It is 

for the exclusive use of the addressee(s) and any views or opinions expressed within 

are those of the originator and not necessarily those of the Force. If you are not the 

intended recipient(s) please note that any form of distribution, copying or use of this 

email or the information contained is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you 

have received this communication in error please forward a copy to 

informationsecurity@thamesvalley.police.uk and to the sender. Please then delete the 

email and destroy any copies of it. DO NOT use this email address for other enquiries 

as it will not be responded to, nor any action taken upon it. If you have a non-urgent 

enquiry, please call the Police non-emergency number 101. If it is an emergency, 

please call 999. Thank you.  

*********************************************************************

************  

 
  

Page 24



 

From: Dennett, Philip (3715) <philip.dennett@hampshire.police.uk>  

Sent: Sunday, March 3, 2024 5:24 AM 

To: Shelley Bowman <shelley.bowman@rushmoor.gov.uk> 

Subject: One extra update for De Lounge hearing  

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Rushmoor Borough Council. Do not 

click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content 

is safe. 

 

Pc 3715 Phil Dennett attended De Lounge at just prior to 23:00hrs on the 02/03/24. 

The front door was monitored and there was a new SIA DS on duty whose Body 

Worn Video was on and he was scanning patrons in. There was a queue because of 

this. I introduced myself and he stated that he had worked there the previous year but 

has really moved away from Clubs. I entered the premise and met the other security 

officer upstairs who wasn’t wearing Body Worn Video. I asked why this was and he 

stated the SIA DS share them. This is a clear breach of ANNEXE 2 (5) (i). 

The venue was busy and I was disappointed that yet again conditions are being 

breached. I left shortly afterwards. 

 

 

PC 3715 PHIL DENNETT 

Force Licensing & Alcohol Harm Reduction Team 

Basingstoke Police Station 

External : 101 | Internal : 4622533 

Email – Philip.dennett@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 

Licensing Home Page 

 

 

 

 

*********************************************************************

************  

This email contains information which is confidential and may also be privileged. It is 

for the exclusive use of the addressee(s) and any views or opinions expressed within 

are those of the originator and not necessarily those of the Force. If you are not the 

intended recipient(s) please note that any form of distribution, copying or use of this 

email or the information contained is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you 

have received this communication in error please forward a copy to 

informationsecurity@thamesvalley.police.uk and to the sender. Please then delete the 

email and destroy any copies of it. DO NOT use this email address for other enquiries 

as it will not be responded to, nor any action taken upon it. If you have a non-urgent 

enquiry, please call the Police non-emergency number 101. If it is an emergency, 

please call 999. Thank you.  

*********************************************************************

************  

  

Page 25



 

  

Page 26



 

APPENDIX B 
MAP OF AREA OF THE PREMISES 

DE LOUNGE, TOWNSTEAD HOUSE, 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD,  
ALDERSHOT, GU11 1JE 

 
  

Page 27



 

  

Page 28



 

APPENDIX C 
PREMISES LICENCE 

DE LOUNGE, TOWNSTEAD HOUSE, 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD,  
ALDERSHOT, GU11 1JE 

 
 

 
 

Page 29



Page 30



 

 
 
 

Page 31



 

 
 

Page 32



 

 
 

Page 33



 

 
 
 

Page 34



 

 
 

Page 35



 

 

Page 36



 

 

Page 37



 

 
 

Page 38



 

 
 

Page 39



 

 
 
 

Page 40



 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

Page 42



 

 
 

Page 43



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 44



 

APPENDIX D 
REPRESENTATION – LICENSING AUTHORITY 

DE LOUNGE, TOWNSTEAD HOUSE, 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD,  
ALDERSHOT, GU11 1JE 

 
 

 
 

Page 45



 

 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

 

Page 47



Page 48



 

 

Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



 

Exhibit AV02 
Aimee Vosser 
From: Tularam Gurung < > 
Sent: 30 January 2024 14:29 
To: Aimee Vosser 
Subject: Re: De lounge update 

[You don't often get email from . Learn why this is important at 
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification ] 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Rushmoor Borough Council. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content 
is safe. 
Thanks 
Tularam Gurung 
Sent from my iPhone 
> On 30 Jan 2024, at 14:22, Aimee Vosser <aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk> wrote: 
> 
> Hi Tularam, 
> 
> As you have confirmed that you wish your times to remain as they are, I have copied this 
information in to PC Dennett and further communication will be made in due 
course. 
> 
> Thank you 
> 
> Aimee 
> 
> Aimee Vosser 
> Licensing Officer 
> Rushmoor Borough Council 
> 01252 398131 / 07341521940 
> 
> Please take a moment to complete a short survey about how you found 
> the service you received today at 
> https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=xrIKROOSyU6l_0zpYW 
> Lz9r2XlOoDj1xPqdffgzM2raNUQzBIV0s4Tko4WE8xVlRXM1lQMlBKNlU3QS4u 
> 
> -----Original Message----- 
> From: Tularam Gurung 
> Sent: 30 January 2024 14:18 
> To: Aimee Vosser <aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk> 
> Subject: Re: De lounge update 
> 
> CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Rushmoor Borough Council. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content 
is safe. 
> 
> 
> Thanks, I want to remain same as now. 
> 
> Regards 
> 
> Tularam Gurung 

Page 52



 

> Sent from my iPhone 
> 
>> On 30 Jan 2024, at 14:13, Aimee Vosser <aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk> wrote: 
>> 
>> Tularam, 
>> 
>> Please can you confirm whether you are willing to apply for the minor variation as 
mentioned in my previous email? 
>> 
>> If you wish for your hours to remain the same then it may be that PC Dennett will apply 
for a review of the premises licence, and if that is the case, I will be in support of 
the review. 
>> 
>> I have coped in PC Dennett for reference. 
>> 
>> Thank you 
>> 
>> Aimee 
>> 
>> Aimee Vosser 
>> Licensing Officer 
>> Rushmoor Borough Council 
>> 01252 398131 / 07341521940 
>> 
>> Please take a moment to complete a short survey about how you found 
>> the service you received today at 
>> https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=xrIKROOSyU6l_0zpY 
>> W Lz9r2XlOoDj1xPqdffgzM2raNUQzBIV0s4Tko4WE8xVlRXM1lQMlBKNlU3QS4u 
2 

>> 
>> -----Original Message----- 
>> From: Tularam Gurung 
>> Sent: 30 January 2024 13:51 
>> To: Aimee Vosser <aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk> 
>> Subject: Re: De lounge update 
>> 
>> [You don't often get email from . Learn why this 
>> is important at https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification ] 
>> 
>> CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Rushmoor Borough Council. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the 
content is safe. 
>> 
>> 
>> Many thanks for your kind advices and supportive notes. 
>> 
>> Please take it all a non intentional not having security on Saturday night. As your reports, I 
fully understood, now I am keep reading the license rules and DPS rules. Still 
not clear why I can not book few people’s private party without security. But I honestly do 
not want to argue about it. 
>> 

Page 53



 

>> Me and my wife are discussing a lot how to continue the business and making good 
relations with local authorities. We came in this industry with very little knowledge 
and experiences and now learning more day by day. 
>> 
>> I am happy to discuss and happy to present if necessary. I will keep security as it is now 
from 7pm - 3am but normally I close at 1am, sometimes 2am as well. Security 
will be there with body cameras in proper uniform as it is. 
>> 
>> I gave to all my staffs to read and understand the in-house, bar 
>> area, kitchen instructions. They are aware of it and signed the 
>> policy form including DPS. I will write down a vulnerability policy 
>> soon 
>> 
>> Please advise me if I have to do anything which is good for the 
>> business, customers, authorities, I will do it and happy to discuss 
>> further 
>> 
>> My request is please allow to band members to go to the terrace after their performance 
for fresh air and water. Also allow me to serve food only for bands after their 
performance before off from the premises. It is my request to you that band members are 
part of staff during the performance time. 
>> 
>> Finally tell us what things we have to do near the future. Always 
>> seeking your support and guidance 
>> 
>> Tularam Gurung 
>> De lounge 
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> Sent from my iPhone 
>> 
>>>> On 30 Jan 2024, at 11:58, Aimee Vosser <aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk> wrote: 
>>> 
>>> Tularam, 
>>> 
>>> Thank you for your email following my visit with PC Dennett on Saturday 27th January at 
approx.. 23:50pm. 
>>> 
>>> As you will recall a number of breaches were identified during our 
>>> visit. In addition to this, other concerns were raised which I will 
>>> detail in full below; 
>>> 
>>> Upon our arrival it was noted that you had no SIA door supervisors in attendance at the 
premises, however we noticed a group of female customers leaving a premises 
and entering De Lounge. We entered the premises to find no SIA or Scanner at the entrance. 
>>> 
>>> We walked up the stairs to find vomit. As we entered the main area of the premises you 
had a number of people inside and music was being played. 
>>> 
>>> As we spoke, you stated it was a private party, but you also confirmed that you were 
selling alcohol and other licensable activities were taking place (i.e. regulated 

Page 54



 

entertainment and provision of late night refreshment) I explained that as you were carrying 
out licensable activities you are required to comply with all the conditions on 
the premises licence. 
>>> 
>>> During our conversation in the office, the following breaches were 
>>> identified; 
>>> 
>>> 1. No SIA 
>>> 2. No Scanner system in place 
>>> 3. No body worn video 
>>> 4. No Staff Training records 
>>> 5. People outside on the terrace area after 22:00pm (this is also a 
>>> concern as no confirmation has been sought to show the area is structurally sound for 
people to stand on) 6. Refusals log tucked away in a cupboard in the office and 
last entry was 02nd December 2023. 
>>> 7. No vulnerability Policy in place - when I asked for this, you 
>>> were unaware of what the policy was 
>>> 
>>> I was concerned some customers may have been over intoxicated due to the vomit on 
the stairs and a customer challenged PC Dennett as he was walking around the 
venue. Two other police officers arrived in order to assist with a safe dispersal. Given the 
above and the repeated non-compliance of no SIA door supervisors it is 
proportionate for PC Dennett and I to consider formal enforcement action. 
3 

>>> 
>>> I have read your email and understand that you may wish to vary the premises licence to 
move away as a night time economy venue and given the concerns raised 
above I believe it is appropriate to do so. 
>>> 
>>> As the licence holder and the designated premises supervisor, it is your responsibility to 
ensure compliance of the premises licence. It is my role as a responsible 
authority for licensing to ensure compliance of premises licences. The cost of closing if you 
are non-compliant is something you are responsible for and not responsible 
authorities or local authority. 
>>> 
>>> I believe it is appropriate for the permitted hours for De Lounge to be reduced to 
22:00pm on any day. If you were to reduce to these hours, PC Dennett and I can 
consider the removal of the need for SIA door supervisors, Scanner system and body worn 
video. 
>>> 
>>> If you wish to run the premises as a restaurant (as you have stated) we can also consider 
removing the time limit on children being in the premises - at the moment, 
whilst you have the hours as late as you do, it is simply not suitable to allow children into the 
premises any later than permitted on your licence. 
>>> 
>>> I note from your email that you have queried other premises, please note that each 
premises is individual to its licence and conditions that are applicable to them. It is 
not appropriate to compare your premises with others. The conditions on your current 
premises licence reflect how the premises has been operating in order to up hold 
the licensing objectives (public safety, prevention of crime and disorder, prevention of public 
nuisance and the protection of children from harm). 
>>> 

Page 55



 

>>> The next considerations are as follows; 
>>> 
>>> 1. Given the concerns raised above and a repeated pattern of non compliance of the 
premises licence it would be proportionate for PC Dennett to apply for a review of 
the premises licence, which I would be in support of. This would mean a hearing is held with 
a licensing sub-committee who will be presented all the information submitted 
by all parties (including yourself) and a decision would then be made - this can be anything 
from revocation of the premises licence, reduction in hours or adding further 
conditions. 
>>> 
>>> OR 
>>> 
>>> 2. I can assist you with applying for a minor variation application. The cost of this to you 
would be £89.00 and there is a 2 week consultation period before any licence 
change is made. The application will need to include a reduction of hours to 22:00pm on any 
day and removal of conditions relating to SIA, a scanner and the requirement 
of body worn videos. 
>>> 
>>> It is important that you understand PC Dennett can apply for a review of the premises 
licence should you decide to not apply for the minor variation as described 
above. I would be most grateful if you could respond to this email by close of business 
Thursday 1st February 2024 so we can move forward. 
>>> 
>>> If you wish to discuss this, please feel free to contact me. 
>>> 
>>> Thank you 
>>> 
>>> Aimee 
>>> 
>>> Aimee Vosser 
>>> Licensing Officer 
>>> Rushmoor Borough Council 
>>> 01252 398131 / 07341521940 
>>> 
>>> Please take a moment to complete a short survey about how you found 
>>> the service you received today at 
>>> https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=xrIKROOSyU6l_0zp 
>>> Y W Lz9r2XlOoDj1xPqdffgzM2raNUQzBIV0s4Tko4WE8xVlRXM1lQMlBKNlU3QS4u 
>>> 
>>> -----Original Message----- 
>>> From: Tularam Gurung 
>>> Sent: 29 January 2024 15:35 
>>> To: Aimee Vosser <aimee.vosser@rushmoor.gov.uk> 
>>> Subject: De lounge update 
>>> 
>>> CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Rushmoor Borough Council. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the 
content is safe. 
>>> 
>>> 
>>> Hi Aimee, 
>>> 

Page 56



 

>>> Thanks for visiting at De Lounge, unfortunately I didn’t hire security as normal on last 
Saturday. 
>>> 
>>> I’m not taking any advantages from you and Phil, I am not against the license policy 
including rules and regulations. Only thing, I was not aware that private party needs 
to have security staff while selling alcohol as you said. It was just 52 pax private party and I 
did put notice board out side until late. I don’t know the exact time when I put 
the notice board in. 
>>> 
>>> My 3 partners left the business, reasons are too much expenses and 
>>> within one year, we lost £48k plus, that’s why they left the business. 
>>> Now If you say to me close the business and if you can cover my 
>>> expenses, I am happy to go ahead and close the business 
>>> 
>>> I am just doing my best to continue and sustain the business. Me and my wife have 
spent all our money more than £130k but not making any profit from here just 
paying taxes, Vat,rent, energy bills, staff salaries etc. we are happy giving jobs to few people, 
that’s all. I have spent few times for fire safety and other training as well. 
>>> 
>>> Now, I am happy to discuss more and I need your help as well. I would like to ask and 
request few questions as well which may be helpful for me. 
>>> 
>>> 1. De lounge is a restaurant and cocktails bar, not a night club. How can I remove the 
word - night club from the license? I want to sell more food and create family 
environment. 
>>> 
>>> 2. I don’t want to continue live music with Bands, it is too expensive. I want to keep 
Acoustic only for family members. Band is too noisy. 
4 

>>> 
>>> 3. How can I keep children until 10pm with family? I want to give 
>>> good service to family groups but children are not allowed after 8pm 
>>> 
>>> 4. Last question is, Other restaurants are also doing private party with live music but 
they don’t have restrictions for children and no security as well such as Sushi moto 
upstairs, Mhalingo, Thamel , Empire hall, then how come they don’t need securities? We are 
doing same type of business in the same town and in same council but why is 
there a difference? My curiosity is Last Saturday, sushi moto was booked by more than 190 
people until late, no security and no restrictions for children and they were 
selling alcohol. Is it legal and right to do? 
>>> 
>>> 5. Me and my wife are desperate to get help from you. When I was in the business, my 
partners were mainly involved in the licensing and other things, I was only 
focusing on customer service but now honestly so many other things are being done and 
doing it. 
>>> 
>>> Kind regards 
>>> 
>>> Tularam Gurung 
>>> Sent from my iPhone 
>>> This e-mail, and any attachments, may contain confidential information and is intended 
solely for the individual to whom it is addressed. It may contain sensitive or 

Page 57



 

protectively marked material and should be handled accordingly. If this e-mail has been 
misdirected, please notify the author immediately. If you are not the intended 
recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or rely on any of the information 
contained in it or attached, and all copies must be deleted immediately. Whilst we 
take reasonable steps to try to identify any software viruses, any attachments to this Email 
may nevertheless contain viruses which our anti-virus software has failed to 
identify. You should therefore carry out your own anti-virus checks before opening any 
documents. Rushmoor Borough Council will not accept any liability for damage 
caused by computer viruses emanating from any attachment or other document supplied 
with this e-mail. E-mails may have to be disclosed or monitored in accordance 
with relevant legislation. 
>> This e-mail, and any attachments, may contain confidential information and is intended 
solely for the individual to whom it is addressed. It may contain sensitive or 
protectively marked material and should be handled accordingly. If this e-mail has been 
misdirected, please notify the author immediately. If you are not the intended 
recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or rely on any of the information 
contained in it or attached, and all copies must be deleted immediately. Whilst we 
take reasonable steps to try to identify any software viruses, any attachments to this Email 
may nevertheless contain viruses which our anti-virus software has failed to 
identify. You should therefore carry out your own anti-virus checks before opening any 
documents. Rushmoor Borough Council will not accept any liability for damage 
caused by computer viruses emanating from any attachment or other document supplied 
with this e-mail. E-mails may have to be disclosed or monitored in accordance 
with relevant legislation. 
> This e-mail, and any attachments, may contain confidential information and is intended 
solely for the individual to whom it is addressed. It may contain sensitive or 
protectively marked material and should be handled accordingly. If this e-mail has been 
misdirected, please notify the author immediately. If you are not the intended 
recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or rely on any of the information 
contained in it or attached, and all copies must be deleted immediately. Whilst we 
take reasonable steps to try to identify any software viruses, any attachments to this Email 
may nevertheless contain viruses which our anti-virus software has failed to 
identify. You should therefore carry out your own anti-virus checks before opening any 
documents. Rushmoor Borough Council will not accept any liability for damage 
caused by computer viruses emanating from any attachment or other document supplied 
with this e-mail. E-mails may have to be disclosed or monitored in accordance 

with relevant legislation. 

 
 
 

  

Page 58



Page 59



 

Page 60



 

 
 

 

Sent from my iPhone 

 

On 9 Feb 2024, at 14:28, Rushmoor Council Licensing 

<Licensing@rushmoor.gov.uk> wrote: 

  

Hi Tularam, 

Thank you for your comments, which I will ensure are included in the pack to the 

committee. 

It is entirely up to you if you would like to include anything further for the committee 

that you believe supports your case. You can submit documentation, CCTV and any 

other evidence that you would like to. I would recommend that if you wish to do this 

you submit it ahead of the hearing, and ideally before the end of the representation 

period (29th February), as if you ask to submit any documentation during the hearing, 

this can only be considered if all parties agree. 

Kind Regards 

Shelley Bowman 

Licensing Manager 

Place Protection – Operations 

Rushmoor Borough Council 

01252 398162 

Tell us how we did today – please complete our customer satisfaction survey at 

https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=xrIKROOSyU6l 0zpYWLz9r

2XlOoDj1xPqdffgzM2raNUM1paWlBDNzlZTFdFQTg0RDhNSFlVMk42US4u 

 

Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 DETERMINATION OF AN APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE IN RESPECT OF DE LOUNGE, NOS. 111-113 VICTORIA ROAD, ALDERSHOT



